UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

11-5-2009

City of Idaho Falls v. Fuhriman Appellant's Brief Dckt. 36721

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

This appeal is brought by the Mayor of the City of Idaho Falls, Bonneville County, Idaho [the "City"] of the decision of the Seventh Judicial District Court of Bonneville County, State of Idaho [the "District Court"] confirming the validity of the Power Sales Agreement, Contract No. 09PB-I3056 [the "Renewal Power Sales Agreement"] [R., Vol. I, pp. 79 – 260a] and the related Creditworthiness Agreement, Contract No. 09PB-I3257, [the "Creditworthiness Agreement"] [R., Vol. I, pp. 26Ia- 269], pursuant to the Judicial Confirmation Law, Title 7, Chapter 13, Idaho Code, as amended [the "Judicial Confirmation Law"]. Both of the subject agreements are between the City and the United States of America, Department of Energy, acting by and through the Bonneville Power Administration ("Bonneville"].

B. Background Facts

The City owns and operates a municipal electric utility system [the "System"] which provides electric utility service to customers located within the System's established service area. The System is operated by the City's Electric Division [which does business as, and is referred to herein as, "Idaho Falls Power"]. [Flowers Affidavit – R., Vol. II, p. 504, ¶ 1 – p. 505, ¶ 3; Elg Affidavit – R., Vol. II, p. 515, ¶ 1 – p. 516, ¶ 3.]

Idaho Falls Power owns two hydroelectric generation facilities—the Bulb Turbine Project and the Gem State Project—located on the Snake River. These Projects guarantee only a small portion of the System's electricity needs, and the City presently purchases approximately 90% of its power supply under a power purchase agreement with Bonneville that expires on September 30, 2011 [the *"2001 PSA"*]. [Flowers Affidavit – R. Vol. II, p. 509, ¶ 15 – p. 510, ¶ 19.]

To replace the 2001 PSA, the City and Bonneville have executed the Renewal Power Sales Agreement. The City intends to begin purchasing power under the Renewal Power Sales Agreement on October 1, 2011. [R., Vol. I, p. 131. ¶ 13 and pp. 182 – 185.]

The City will purchase the "Slice" and "Block" products under the Renewal Power Sales Agreement. Bonneville is requiring that all customers who will purchase the "Slice" product execute a Creditworthiness Agreement. Upon the occurrence of certain events, the Creditworthiness Agreement provides that Bonneville may require the City to post cash or a letter of credit to secure its payment obligations under the Renewal Power Sales Agreement. [Elg Affidavit – R. Vol. II, p. 527, ¶ 33 and p. 531, ¶ 46.]

C. Course of Proceedings Below

The City filed a petition under Section 7-1301, *et. seq.*, Idaho Code ("Judicial Confirmation Law") on March 19, 2009 [the "City's Petition for Confirmation"), requesting a determination that the City's payment obligations under the Renewal Power Sales Agreement are "ordinary and necessary expenses" within the meaning of the proviso clause of Art. VIII, § 3. The City also requested a determination of the validity of the Creditworthiness Agreement, arguing that it does not create any new or additional "obligation" of the City, but is a security instrument necessary to give effect to the Renewal Power Sales Agreement. [R. Vol. I, p. 10, ¶ 16 and p. 21, ¶ 2 – p. 22, ¶ 3.]

The Mayor filed an answer in opposition to the City's Petition on April 17, 2009, arguing that the City's payment obligations under the Renewal Power Sales Agreement are not "necessary" because they need not be incurred on an immediate or emergency basis as required by the Idaho Supreme Court's holding in *City of Boise v. Frazier*, 143 Idaho I, 137 P.3d 388 (2006), and the City has ample time to conduct an authorizing election. [R. Vol. II, pp. 590 – 601.]

The District Court held a hearing on the City's Petition for Confirmation on May 7, 2009, and issued its order on June 15, 2009 (the *"Order of the District Court"*), holding that the City's obligations under the Renewal Power Sales Agreement, even if considered an *"indebtedness or liability," are "ordinary and necessary expenses," all within the meaning of Art. VIII, § 3. [R. Vol. II, pp. 612 – 622.]*

The District Court found that the City's payment obligations under the Renewal Power Sales Agreement are "ordinary" expenses because, given that the City owns and operates a municipal electric utility system, the City's purchase of electric power would fall within the ordinary course of municipal business and is a type of expense that may be and is likely to become necessary. [Order of the District Court - R. Vol. II, pp. 617 - 619.] The District Court also held that the City's obligations under the Renewal Power Sales Agreement are "necessary" because such expenses are the type that the City is "legally obligated to perform promptly" within the meaning of the holding in Frazier. The District Court determined that such expenses are the type the City is "legally obligated to perform" because the City, in its role as a "public utility," has a duty to "furnish, provide and maintain such service, instrumentalities, equipment and facilities as shall promote the safety, health, comfort and convenience of its patrons, employees and the public ... " citing to Section 61-302, Idaho Code, as amended. [R. Vol. II, p. 620.] The District Court determined that such expenses must be performed "promptly" because the City depends materially on wholesale market power purchases to meet System requirements, and unstructured planning would put the City at risk of significant price volatility and possible lack of supply, in breach of its duty to supply electricity to its inhabitants, and thus the "urgency" element required by the Frazier decision was met. [Id. at pp. 620 - 621.]

Lastly, noting the Mayor's concession that the Creditworthiness Agreement creates no payment obligation on the part of the City which is separate from the Renewal Power Sales Agreement, the District Court confirmed the validity of the Creditworthiness Agreement as a contract "related" to the Renewal Power Sales Agreement as there was no substantive objection thereto. [R. Vol. II, p. 622.]¹

On July 14, 2009, the Mayor filed a timely Notice of Appeal pursuant to Section 7-1309, Idaho Code, as amended. [*Id.* at pp. 626 – 629.] On August 10, 2009, the City filed a Motion for Expedited Hearing pursuant to I.A.R. 44. Such motion was granted on September 2, 2009, and the matter has been set for oral argument on February 19, 2010.

IV. ISSUE PRESENTED ON APPEAL

Whether the City's payment obligations under the Renewal Power Sales Agreement are "necessary" within the meaning of the proviso clause of Art. VIII, § 3 of the Idaho Constitution.

V. ARGUMENT

THE DISTRICT COURT'S DECISION SHOULD BE OVERRULED BECAUSE THE PAYMENT OBLIGATIONS OF THE CITY UNDER THE RENEWAL POWER SALES AGREEMENT ARE NOT "NECESSARY" EXPENSES WITHIN THE MEANING OF THE HOLDING IN FRAZIER.

The Mayor does not contest the District Court's determination that the City's payment obligations under the Renewal Power Sales Agreement are "ordinary" within the meaning of the "ordinary and necessary" proviso of Art. VIII, § 3 of the Idaho Constitution, nor does the Mayor contest the District Court's holding with respect to the

APPELLANT'S BRIEF- 6

¹ The Mayor has taken the position that if the City's primary payment obligations under the Renewal Power Sales Agreement are valid, then the City's obligations under Creditworthiness Agreement are also valid. *See* the Mayor's Answer to Petition for Judicial Confirmation, dated April 14, 2009, at R. Vol. II, p. 593, ¶ 9, and the Mayor's Brief in Support of Answer to Petition for Judicial Confirmation, dated April 14, 2009, at R. Vol. II, p. 600a - 601.

Creditworthiness Agreement, at least insofar as the District Court determined that the Creditworthiness Agreement does not give rise to a new obligation, but is only a security instrument designed to give effect to the Renewal Power Sales Agreement. The Mayor appeals the District Court's determination that the City's payment obligations under the Renewal Power Sales Agreement are "necessary" expenses within the meaning of the Art. VIII, § 3 proviso and the *Frazier* holding. First, the City has no "legal obligation" to incur the expense of providing electricity to its residents. Second, the City's payment obligations under the *Frazier* test because they need not be incurred on an immediate or emergency basis.

The Mayor first points out that the District Court's determination that the City is "legally obligated" to incur the expense of providing electricity to its residents, on the basis of Section 61-302, Idaho Code, as amended, was erroneous. [R. Vol. II, p. 620.] Title 61 regulates only investor-owned utilities, not municipally-owned and other not-for-profit utilities such as Idaho Falls Power.² Consequently, Section 61-302, Idaho Code, as amended,

every common carrier, pipeline corporation, gas corporation, electrical corporation, telephone corporation, telegraph corporation, water corporation, and wharfinger, as those terms are defined in this chapter and each thereof is hereby declared to be a public utility and to be subject to the jurisdiction, control and regulation of the commission and to the provisions of this act....

"Corporation" is defined in Section 61-104, Idaho Code, as amended, as

a corporation, a company, an association and a joint stock association, *but does not include a municipal corporation*, or mutual nonprofit or cooperative gas, electrical, water or telephone corporation or any other public utility organized and operated for service at cost and not for profit, whether inside or outside the limits of incorporated cities, towns or villages (emphasis added).

See also Snake River Homebuilders Association v. City of Caldwell, 101 Idaho 47, 607 P.2d 1321 (1980) (because the City of Caldwell's municipally-owned utility was not a "public utility"

² Municipally-owned and other not-for-profit utilities are specifically excluded, by definition, from jurisdiction of the Idaho Public Utilities Law. Section 61-129, Idaho Code, as amended, defines "public utility" as

does not apply to the City and thus imposes no obligation on the City to furnish its residents with electrical power.

The Mayor concedes that the City, having undertaken to own and operate the System, has a practical obligation to assure an adequate supply of electricity to the customers served by the System. Nevertheless, the Mayor argues that regardless of the practical realities, the City's payment obligations under the Renewal Power Sales Agreement are not undertaken pursuant to a legal duty and are therefore not "necessary" within the meaning of the holding in *Frazier*. Simply put, the "requisite urgency" mandated by the *Frazier* decision is not present in this case.

The language of the *Frazier* decision that was quoted [in part] and relied upon by the District Court in reaching its holding states, in its entirety, as follows: "We observe that the expenditures contemplated by the delegates [to the Constitutional Convention] involved *immediate* or *emergency* expenditures, *such as* those involving public safety, or expenses the government entity in question was legally obligated to perform promptly." 143 Idaho at 4, 137 P.3d at 391 [emphasis added]. The *Frazier* decision noted that "[t]hose expenditures [discussed by the delegates] included unavoidable expenses, such as carrying on criminal trials and abating flood damage, that could not be delayed." *Id.* Thus, the term "promptly" as used in *Frazier* was intended to describe those expenditures that must be incurred on an *immediate* or emergency basis, or in other words, expenditures for which there is no time to hold an election.

under the Public Utilities Law, the notice and hearing requirements of that Law were not applicable to city's action of passing resolution increasing rate charged for extending city's water mains); see also Alpert v. Boise Water Corporation, 118 Idaho 136, ____, 795 P.2d 298, 302 (1990) ("The public utilities law [Chapters 1-7 of Title 61, Idaho Code] establishes a comprehensive scheme for the regulation of *investor-owned* utilities by the Idaho Public Utilities Commission.") (Emphasis added.).

Here, despite any practical obligation of the City to provide its residents with electricity, under the unique circumstances of this case, the Renewal Power Sales Agreement does not come within the "necessary" element as contemplated by *Frazier*. The City has secured its ability to acquire power under the Renewal Power Sales Agreement but its obligation to commence purchases of power will not commence until 2011. Such expenses are thus clearly not "immediate" or "emergency" expenses, and there is still more than enough time to hold an authorizing election. Consequently, the Renewal Power Sales Agreement is not truly "necessary" within the meaning of *Frazier*.

The Mayor does not question the importance of reliable electricity supplies to the City's inhabitants. But the Court in *Frazier* also stated that, despite the critical nature of an airport parking structure, "the circumstances do not require the erection of a permanent parking structure on an immediate or emergency basis," 143 Idaho at 5, 137 P.3d at 392 and went on to say "we have held that there must exist a necessity, *not simply for the expenditure*, but also for making the proposed expenditure *at or during such year.*" *Id.* at 6, 137 P.3d at 393 (emphasis added).

Lastly, the Mayor wishes to point out that in reaching its holding the District Court stated that "[t]he City's duty to provide electrical service creates the urgency which causes the Renewal Power Sales Agreement ... to fall within the 'necessary' element of the proviso clause. If the City refuses to strategically plan for long-term provision of electric power for its electric utility system, particularly in the volatile market to which the parties stipulated, it risks a breach of its duty" [R. Vol. II, p. 621.]

The Mayor agrees that as a practical matter, the City must continuously and strategically plan for and acquire electric power supplies from time to time, and does not suggest the City should refuse to do so. The Mayor also concedes that, in so doing, there may not always be time to hold an authorizing election prior to incurring expenditures to purchase power, and that in such instances the execution of power purchase contracts may constitute "immediate" or "emergency" expenditures. That is not the case here, however.

By holding an election to authorize the Renewal Power Sales Agreement the City is not, by any means, "breaching its duty" or refusing "to strategically plan for long-term provision of electric power...." Rather, it is acknowledging the long-time right the City's citizens possess under Art. VIII, §3 to approve an obligation they will ultimately pay for. The City can still acquire power under the Renewal Power Sales Agreement beginning in 2011, if the City's voters so authorize it. While the requirement that the City submit its long-term power purchase obligations to an election might, in limited circumstances, require the City to obtain shorter-term and potentially more expensive power supplies on less favorable terms, Art. VIII, § 3 requires the City to obtain voter approval for such long-term obligations.

VI. CONCLUSION

Despite the necessity of the City's power purchases under the Renewal Power Sales Agreement, there exists no necessity for making such purchases during the current year, and consequently, the City's obligations under the Renewal Power Sales Agreement are not "necessary" within the meaning of the holding in *Frazier* and Art. VIII, § 3. The District Court's determination that the City's obligations under the Renewal Power Sales Agreement are "necessary" within the meaning of this Court's holding in *Frazier* was clearly erroneous.

VII. ATTORNEY FEES ON APPEAL

Appellant does not seek an award of attorney fees on appeal.