UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

11-13-2009

City of Idaho Falls v. Fuhriman Respondent's Brief Dckt. 36721

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The City concurs in the Mayor's statement of the case.

ADDITIONAL ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

None.

ATTORNEY FEES ON APPEAL

The City does not seek attorneys fees on appeal.

ARGUMENT

I. ARTICLE VIII, § 3'S VOTING REQUIREMENT DOES NOT APPLY TO ORDINARY AND NECESSARY EXPENSES THAT ARISE IN THE ORDINARY ADMINISTRATION OF LOCAL GOVERNMENT AFFAIRS.

A. INTRODUCTION.

This Court should affirm the District Court's holding because the City's obligations under the Renewal Power Sales Agreement are ordinary and necessary expenses within the meaning of Art. VIII, § 3 of the Idaho Constitution, and therefore no authorizing vote is required.

That section provides, in pertinent part, as follows:

No city shall incur any indebtedness, or liability, in any manner, or for any purpose, exceeding in that year, the income and revenue provided for it for such year, without the assent of two-thirds of the qualified electors thereof voting at an election to be held for that purpose, nor unless provisions shall be made for the collection of an annual tax sufficient to pay the interest on such indebtedness as it falls due, and also to constitute a sinking fund for the payment of the principal thereof . . . Any indebtedness or liability incurred contrary to this provision shall be void: *Provided, that this section shall not be construed to apply to the ordinary and necessary expenses authorized by the general laws of the state....*(emphasis added).

In this case, the Mayor does not dispute the District Court's finding that the City's obligations under the Renewal Power Sales Agreement are "ordinary" within the meaning of Art.

VIII, § 3.¹ Thus, the only issue before this Court is whether those obligations are "necessary." The City asserts that its payment obligations under the Renewal Power Sales Agreement constitute "ordinary and necessary expenses" within the meaning of the Constitution because they arise in the ordinary course of local government affairs and submits that the present appeal can be resolved by referring to the constitutional debates and the extensive case law regarding the ordinary and necessary expense proviso within Art. VIII, § 3.

DRAFTERS' INTENT AND ART. VIII, § 3'S PROVISO CLAUSE. В.

The proceedings and debates of the Idaho Constitutional Convention of 1889 contain an extensive discussion of local government finance and the purpose of Art. VIII, § 3. Those proceedings show that although "[m]any convention delegates wanted to severely limit the ability of local governments to incur indebtedness,"² the drafters also recognized that the ongoing administration of local government and the need of local governments to fulfill statutory duties and legal obligations required some flexibility in a local government's ability to incur debt without submitting each potential obligation or expenditure to a vote.³

The initial draft of Art. VIII, § 3 would have prohibited any municipal debt or obligation which extended beyond one year without approval of two-thirds of the voters at a special election.⁴ The delegates quickly realized that the original draft of Art. VIII, § 3 "went too far in limiting local government."⁵ Recognizing that the strict voting requirements in the original text

¹ Appellant's Brief, at 6.

²

Dennis C. Colson, Idaho's Constitution: The Tie that Binds 198 (1991).

³ For instance, Judge William Claggett expressed concern that Art. VIII, § 3 as originally drafted – without the proviso - would severely impede the "ordinary administration of [local government] affairs." I.W. Hart, Proceedings and Debates of the Constitutional Convention of Idaho, 588 and 591 (1912); see also the City's Brief to the District Court, dated March 17, 2009, at § A.I., pp. 19-20 (R. Vol. II at 552-53).

⁴ Colson, supra, at 198-99.

⁵ Id. at 199.

of Art. VIII, § 3 would create an untenable situation for local governments, Judge William Claggett, one of the most respected members of the convention, observed that the proposed debt limitation would severely impede the "ordinary administration of [local government] affairs."⁶ He noted that:

[I]f you pass that section in the way it is you will absolutely require that when a witness wants to get his fees, after he has attended upon the court, before he can do it the county commissioners have got to stop and submit at a special election to the whole vote of the people as to whether they will pay them or not.⁷

To avoid this impractical and unrealistic state of affairs, he proposed the following language: "*Provided*, That this section shall not be construed to apply to any ordinary indebtedness created under the general laws of the state."⁸The delegates' comments make clear that this exception⁹ was a compromise intended to give governmental authorities the freedom to incur indebtedness when necessary to the efficient administration of local government, while still preserving the integrity of the Idaho Constitution's "spirit of economy."¹⁰ The delegates recognized that the orderly and efficient administration of local government required that certain debts—"ordinary indebtedness" under Judge Claggett's proposal—be exempt from the voting requirements of Art. VIII, § 3. Judge Claggett's comments provide a clear statement of the intent of the drafters in inserting the proviso clause:

10 Id. at 5, 137 P.3d at 392 (quoting Williams v. City of Emmett, 51 Idaho 500, 505, 6 P.2d 475, 476 (1931).

⁶ Hart, *supra*, at 588.

⁷ Id.

⁸ *Id.* at 586.

⁹ This exception is referred to as the "proviso" clause. See *City of Boise v. Frazier*, 143 Idaho 1, 3, 137 P.3d 388, 390 (2006).

I simply call the attention of the convention to the fact that the way it [Art. VIII, § 3] reads now it would prohibit the issuance of county scrip to pay the ordinary indebtedness absolutely imposed upon the county as provided by law, in case there should be any heavy expenses, as suggested by Mr. Hampton, exceeding the current revenues of that year; *and that it is intended to apply to special indebtedness*, I should judge.¹¹

I offered this proviso to call the attention of the convention to this matter. We don't want to go over this too fast. For instance, the general laws of the state will provide that the witness fees are so much, the mileage fees are so much, all the expenses of the county government are fixed by law. Those expenses are paid annually by the issuance of county scrip, or paid as they arise by the issuance of county scrip. We all know that in the practical administration of county government, that there sometimes will be extraordinary expenses, I mean extraordinary expenses in the ordinary administration of affairs. I am not speaking now of special indebtedness at all, but the ordinary general indebtedness which is incurred in the way of administration of county affairs . . . [The purpose of the proviso] is to limit the section [Art. VIII, § 3] to such indebtedness as does not arise under the ordinary administration of the county.¹²

The delegates knew that in the "ordinary" course of affairs, local governments would sometimes encounter "extraordinary" expenses that cumulatively exceeded the budget for the current year.¹³ These "extraordinary expenses," which the Framers intended to be exempt from the voting requirements, were separate from "special indebtedness," which all of the delegates agreed required prior voter approval. Several of the delegates gave practical examples of the type of extraordinary expenses that should not require a public vote. Delegate Weldon Heyburn

Hart, *supra*, at 587 (emphasis added).

¹² Id. at 588-589 (emphasis added).

As the City explained in its Brief to the District Court, Judge Claggett's statement about "extraordinary expenses in the ordinary administration of county affairs...." referred to expenses occurring within the ordinary administration of county affairs which exceeded available revenues within a county's budget year. In contrast, his reference to "special indebtedness" meant expenditures which are unusual, infrequent, and not occurring in the customary administration of the county. *See* the City's Brief to the District Court at § III.A.1, at p. 20-21, and p. 21, footnote 25 (R. Vol. II at 553-54).

noted that "[t]he expenses of the criminal court instead of being upon the litigants as in civil cases are upon the county," and in the event of "an unusual number of capital cases," the expenses could easily exceed the revenue allocated for criminal trials in a given year.¹⁴ Explaining why such expenses should not require a vote, Delegate Heyburn said "[w]e don't want to have any part of our court expenses in doubt . . . and we don't want to call a county election for the purpose of making up a deficit of four or five hundred dollars at the end of the year."¹⁵ Delegate Peter Pefley, the mayor of Boise, gave another example of the type of "ordinary and necessary" maintenance expenditures that municipalities would periodically encounter.

We have streams running adjacent through the city that in time of high water, and ditches all the time, that are liable as I said to break away and run down through the city, and if we had to wait to hold an election and get two-thirds of the voters to ratify another levy, the whole city might be ruined before it could be abated, and I would not like to see anything of that kind occur.¹⁶

Importantly, the drafters' debates concerning the proviso clause focused on the ordinary *character* of the municipal obligations, rather than any particular urgency driving the need for the expenditure. The examples cited above show that the drafters intended that municipalities be able to incur those obligations which were essential to the ordinary administration of governmental affairs without an authorizing election and that Art. VIII, § 3's voting requirement was reserved for those expenditures which William Claggett referred to as "special indebtedness."¹⁷

¹⁴ Hart, *supra*, at 590-91.

¹⁵ *Id.* at 591.

¹⁶ Id. at 592.

¹⁷ Id. at 588-589.

C. THE CHARACTER OF THE DEBT, NOT THE PRACTICALITY OF HOLDING AN ELECTION, DETERMINES WHETHER AN OBLIGATION IS ORDINARY AND NECESSARY.

It is clear from the constitutional convention that the drafters recognized that a certain class of "ordinary" debt could properly be incurred regardless of the practicality of first submitting the matter to the voters. This, of course, was the whole thrust behind the proviso clause. The Framers understood that the voting requirement only applied to "such indebtedness as does not arise under the ordinary administration of the [local government]."¹⁸ Thus, the analysis under the proviso clause depends on a finding that the *character* of the proposed indebtedness is the type of debt that arises under the ordinary administration of local government affairs,¹⁹ or in other words, the obligation is essential to a local government's ability to fulfill its customary or recurring governmental or proprietary functions.

The drafters did not intend that the proviso's applicability would depend on a finding that it is impractical to hold an election. Perceptive observers then and now have recognized that presenting every issue of multi-year municipal debt to the voters would be impractical and completely unworkable.²⁰ Delegate Weldon Heyburn noted that, "Elections are held in our county at an expense of eight or nine hundred dollars – for the purpose of determining whether or not you shall issue \$500 worth of warrants – that is the practical application of the principle, and it is hardly worthwhile to go to this expense."²¹ However, this discussion of practicality is merely a by-product of the underlying ordinary and necessary analysis. Merely because it is possible to delay an expenditure long enough to conduct a public vote does not necessarily mean

¹⁸ Id. (comments of William Claggett).

¹⁹ Id.

In a recent decision, Justice Jim Jones of the Idaho Supreme Court observed, with regard to the voter approval requirement of Art. VIII § 3, that "[I]t is a virtual impossibility to present every multi-year governmental contract or lease to the public for a vote." *In re University Place/Idaho Water Center Project*, 146 Idaho 527, 199 P.3d 102, 122 (2008) (J. Jones, J., specially concurring).

²¹ Hart, *supra*, at 591 (comments of Weldon Heyburn).

a city or county must do so. The Framers did not intend to tie local officials' hands to the point where unsound or absurd results would follow. Rather the proviso was grounded in the need for practicality in administering the ordinary affairs of local government.

Early Idaho case law similarly reflects the intent of the drafters that municipalities could properly incur a certain class of routine debt necessary for the ordinary administration of governmental affairs without first submitting the matter to the voters. In *Butler v. City of Lewiston*,²² for instance, the Idaho Supreme Court upheld the issuance of bonds to fund the payment of salaries of city officers and employees, "other necessary municipal expenses," and a tort judgment against the city, finding that these were "ordinary and necessary expenses" within the meaning of Art. VIII, § 3.²³ In *Hickey v. City of Nampa*,²⁴ the Court held that bonds issued to fund debts incurred to repair and replace a city's water system which had been destroyed by fire, purchase firefighting equipment, pay the salaries of officers and pay other "*necessary expenditures in the maintenance of the municipal government*" were "ordinary and necessary expenses" within the meaning of Art. VIII, § 3.²⁵ In *Corum v. Common School Dist. No. 21*²⁶ the Court held that "[t]he employment of teachers by trustees of common school districts was a duty imposed upon them by law, and the cost thereof was an 'ordinary and necessary expenser'...."²⁷ Other Idaho cases also demonstrate that those debts which, by their character,

^{22 11} Idaho 393, 83 P. 234 (1905).

²³ *Id.* at 404, 83 P. at 238; *see also* the City's Brief to the District Court at § III.A.1, pp. 22-23 (R. Vol. II at 555-56).

²⁴ 22 Idaho 41, 124 P. 280 (1912).

Id. at 43, 124 P. at 280 (emphasis added); see also the City's Brief to the District Court at § III.A.1, pp. 23-24 (R. Vol. II at 556-57).

^{26 55} Idaho 725, 47 P.2d 889 (1935).

Id. at 730, 47 P.2d at 891 (emphasis added); see also the City's Brief to the District Court at § III.C.3., p. 38 (R. Vol. II at 571).

are essential to the ongoing administration and maintenance of local government and the fulfillment of legal obligations are "ordinary and necessary expenses."²⁸

On the other hand, the Framers did intend Art. VIII, § 3's voting requirement to apply to what they called "special indebtedness," meaning, as stated by Judge Claggett, those debts which do not arise in the ordinary course of administering local government—in other words, long-term indebtedness issued or incurred to finance large capital projects. Subsequent decisions of the Idaho Supreme Court reflect this intent, namely, *Bannock County v. C. Bunting & Co.* (issuance of warrants for the purchase of land for a courthouse must be submitted to a vote),²⁹ *Dunbar v. Board of Com'rs of Canyon County* (construction of a bridge is not "ordinary and necessary"),³⁰ *Asson v. City of Burley* (contracts unconditionally obligating cities to pay debt issued to finance the construction of nuclear power plants are not "ordinary and necessary").³¹

Determining what constitutes an "ordinary and necessary" expense is necessarily a caseby-case, fact-specific analysis.³² The Framers but did not articulate any particular framework or

See Thomas v. Glindeman, 33 Idaho 394, 195 P. 92 (1921) (snow and ice removal on public streets, and police and fire protection), Jones v. Power Co., 27 Idaho 656, 150 P. 35 (1915) (construction of a jail in a newly created county), Bannock County v. Bunting, 4 Idaho 156, 37 P. 277 (1894) (acquisition of a temporary jail), City of Pocatello v. Peterson, 93 Idaho 774, 473 P.2d 644 (1970) (repair, replacement and expansion of existing municipal airport facilities determined to be unsound, inadequate and unsafe, Board of County Com'rs of Twin Falls County v. Idaho Health Facilities Authority, 96 Idaho 498, 531 P.2d 588 (1974) (improvements to hospital facilities to comply with state safety standards), Ray v. Nampa School District #131, 120 Idaho 117, 814 P.2d 17 (1990) (employment contract with maintenance electrician for a school district), Hanson v. City of Idaho Falls, 92 Idaho 512, 514, 446 P.2d 634, 636 (1968) (salaries of public employees), and Loomis v. City of Hailey, 119 Idaho 434, 807 P.2d 1272 (1991) (repair and replacement of system components of public works projects). See also the City's Brief to the District Court at § III.A.2, pp. 27-28 and § III.C.3 (R. Vol. II at 560-61).

^{29 4} Idaho 156, 37 P. 277 (1894).

³⁰ 5 Idaho 407, 49 P. 409 (1897).

³¹ 105 Idaho 432, 670 P.2d 839 (1983).

³² The Court recognized this principle by its statement in *City of Boise v. Frazier* that "[w]hether a proposed expenditure is ordinary and necessary depends on the surrounding circumstances of each case." 143 Idaho at 7, 137 P.3d at 394.

litmus test with which to determine whether an expenditure was ordinary and necessary and thus exempt from Art. VIII, § 3. Several of the delegates gave examples of the types of projects which would constitute "ordinary and necessary expenses,"³³ but the Framers established no bright line rule by which to measure such indebtedness. Consequently, early Supreme Court case law quickly recognized that a determination of whether a given expense arises in the ordinary administration of local government affairs—and thus is ordinary and necessary—necessarily requires a case-by-case analysis that takes into account all of the facts and circumstances associated with the proposed indebtedness and the particular purpose for which the debt will be used.

The following are examples of expenditures which, after a careful analysis of the facts associated with the indebtedness, have been held by the Idaho Supreme Court to be "ordinary and necessary expenses":

- Snow and ice removal on public streets, and police and fire protection³⁴
- Construction of a jail in a newly created county³⁵
- Repair, replacement and expansion of existing municipal airport facilities determined to be unsound, inadequate and unsafe³⁶
- Improvements to hospital facilities to comply with state safety standards³⁷

Hart, *supra*, at 584-94 (The delegates suggested that "heavy county expenses," "court expenses," "any emergency," "extraordinary expenses," "witness fees," "mileage fees," "repairing ditches and water courses and any part of the ordinary legitimate expenses of running county government," would qualify as "ordinary and necessary").

³⁴ Thomas v. Glindeman, 33 Idaho 394, 195 P. 92 (1921).

³⁵ Jones v. Power Co., 27 Idaho 656, 150 P. 35 (1915).

³⁶ City of Pocatello v. Peterson, 93 Idaho 774, 473 P.2d 644 (1970).

³⁷ Board of County Com'rs of Twin Falls County v. Idaho Health Facilities Authority, 96 Idaho 498, 531 P.2d 588 (1974).

- Contract to procure a school teacher and payment of the teacher's salary³⁸
- Employment contract with maintenance electrician for a school district³⁹
- Salaries of public employees⁴⁰
- Replacement of water system⁴¹
- Repair and replacement of system components of public works projects⁴²

The case-by-case analysis which the Court has used to determine that these expenditures were ordinary and necessary shows that, as the Framers intended, the *character* of the obligation is the key factor in determining whether an expense arises in the ordinary administration of government affairs and thus exempt from Art. VIII, § 3's voting requirements.

D. THE ORDINARY AND NECESSARY ANALYSIS AFTER FRAZIER.

In *City of Boise v. Frazier*, the Court held that financing the construction of a new multilevel airport parking structure was not an ordinary and necessary expense.⁴³ The Court noted in *Frazier* that "urgency," compelled by the need to protect public safety can, in certain circumstances, make the expenditure necessary within the meaning of Art. VIII, § 3.44 On the facts before it, the Court appropriately found that construction of a new multi-level parking

³⁸ Corum v. Common School Dist. No. 21, 55 Idaho 725, 47 P.2d 889 (1935).

³⁹ Ray v. Nampa School District #131, 120 Idaho 117, 814 P.2d 17 (1990).

⁴⁰ Butler v. City of Lewiston, 11 Idaho 393, 83 P. 234 (1905); Hickey v. City of Nampa, 22 Idaho 41, 124 P. 280 (1912); Hanson v. City of Idaho Falls, 92 Idaho 512, 514, 446 P.2d 634, 636 (1968) ("One of the most fundamental and necessary expenses of municipal government is that which is incurred in the provision of adequate police protection for persons and property. Certainly it could not be argued in good faith that the weekly or monthly compensation of municipal employees is not an ordinary and necessary expense within the proviso of art. VIII, § 3.").

⁴¹ Hickey v. City of Nampa, 22 Idaho 41, 124 P. 280 (1912).

⁴² Loomis v. City of Hailey, 119 Idaho 434, 807 P.2d 1272 (1991).

⁴³ 143 Idaho 1, 137 P.3d 388 (2006).

⁴⁴ *Id.* at 6-7, 137 P.3d at 393-394.

garage was not urgent, and thus not necessary.⁴⁵ However, the City submits that urgency is not the litmus test for determining whether governmental obligations are ordinary and necessary.

In *Frazier*, the Court confirmed that "[w]hether a proposed expenditure is ordinary and necessary depends on the surrounding circumstances of each case."⁴⁶ This suggests that the presence of urgency is not a bright-line rule applicable to all potential government expenses. Rather the Court's statement shows that urgency is only one factor, among others, that could satisfy the "necessary" prong. Importantly, *Frazier* did not overrule any of the Court's prior decisions, nor did the Court suggest that the *Frazier* rule superseded any of the Court's prior Art. VIII, § 3 precedent. Thus, previous Idaho Supreme Court decisions interpreting Art. VIII, § 3 continue to be instructive in discerning what constitutes an ordinary and necessary expense. Importantly, the Court in *Frazier* specifically acknowledged that earlier Art. VIII, § 3 cases were correctly decided even where urgency was not a factor.⁴⁷

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